SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

1 2.

.

.

CASE NO. 77,286

AMERICAN HOME ASSURANCE COMPANY

Petitioner,

v.

LARKIN GENERAL HOSPITAL, LTD., etc.

Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW UPON CERTIFIED CONFLICT FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, THIRD DISTRICT

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

KIMBRELL & HAMANN, P.A. SUITE 900, BRICKELL CENTRE 799 BRICKELL PLAZA MIAMI, FLORIDA 33131

James F. Crowder, Jr., Esquire J. Steven Hudson, Esquire

STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS

A. NATURE OF THE CASE, ISSUE PRESENTED, AND PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The Third District Court of Appeal in its opinion filed below certified conflict with the First District Court of Appeal on the following legal issue:

ISSUE PRESENTED: WHETHER THE SURETY'S PERFORMANCE BOND PROVIDES COVERAGE FOR CONSEQUENTIAL DELAY DAMAGES SUSTAINED BY AN OWNER DUE TO A CONTRACTOR'S DEFAULT.

Petitioner seeks review of the appellate court's ruling on this issue.

The underlying suit is a contract action brought by an owner against a surety that bonded a construction project. The Petitioner and Defendant below is the surety, AMERICAN HOME ASSURANCE COMPANY, and is referred to herein as "AMERICAN". The Respondent and Plaintiff below is the owner of the project and bond obligee, LARKIN GENERAL HOSPITAL, LTD., and is referred to herein as "LARKIN". The contractor on the project and principal on the performance bond, H CORPORATION/CAZO ARDAVIN JOINT VENTURE II, is referred to as "Contractor".

Items in the record on appeal are referenced as "R.", followed by the record volume and page numbers. The transcript of the hearing and trial held March 6, 1990 is referenced as Volume III of the record: e.g., "R.III-6" references page number 6 of the trial transcript. Trial exhibits are referenced as "Tr.Exh.", followed by the exhibit number or letter.

-1-

KIMBRELL & HAMANN, P.A.

B. STATEMENT OF FACTS

On December 15, 1982, LARKIN and Contractor entered into a contract for the construction of improvements at the Larkin General Hospital in Dade County, Florida. R.II-157. AMERICAN was the surety on the project. Id. The project was to commence on or about January 1, 1983. R.II-157.

Under the terms of the construction contract, the project was scheduled to be substantially completed by May 31, 1984. R.II-157. As of May 31, 1984, Contractor's progress on the project was slightly over eighty percent complete. R.II-160 ; R.III-147. At that time, however, LARKIN did not terminate Contractor or notify surety of Contractor's default. Eighteen (18) months later, on November 23, 1985, LARKIN notified AMERICAN of the default and terminated Contractor. R.II-158 ; R.III-48. LARKIN inexcusably waited, in the words of its representative, to the point "of no return" before notifying AMERICAN. R.III-86.

Because of the eighteen- month delay in the construction progress that had transpired between the anticipated completion date and the receipt of notice of default from LARKIN, AMERICAN ultimately elected not to complete the project, accepting that it would be responsible to LARKIN for the costs of completion. R.III-29-30, 34. LARKIN then completed the project by June 1986. R.II-158.

-2-

KIMBRELL & HAMANN, P.A.

C. COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS

1. LARKIN's Proceedings with Contractor.

On April 10, 1986, Contractor served a Demand for Arbitration to resolve before the American Arbitration Association its disputes with LARKIN under the construction contract.^{1/} Tr.Exh.3. AMERICAN was not even mentioned in the Demand for Arbitration. Id.

On May 20, 1986, LARKIN served an Answer (Tr.Exh.4) and a Counterclaim against Contractor (Tr.Exh.5) in the American Arbitration Association proceedings between LARKIN and Contractor. As with Contractor's pleading, there was no mention of AMERICAN in the pleadings filed by LARKIN in the LARKIN - Contractor arbitration proceedings. Tr.Exhs. 4 & 5. The pleadings filed by the parties to the arbitration proceedings did not raise the issue of the surety's coverage under the performance bond for consequential delay damages. See Tr. Exhs. 3, 4, & 5. $\frac{2}{}$

The Contractor-LARKIN dispute was submitted to the arbitration panel for a hearing on the merits, with LARKIN and Contractor as the sole participants. R.II-158,159. The arbitration proceedings

 $^{^{1/}}$ Later, in 1987, Contractor filed suit in Dade County circuit court against LARKIN (Case No. 87-04340) to foreclose on a mechanics lien. Ultimately, after the arbitration resulted in an award, upon LARKIN's motion the mechanics lien action was consolidated with LARKIN's action against AMERICAN. R.I-32.

The arbitration pleadings "unambiguously set forth the issues ... which were the subject of the arbitration proceeding: whether contractor breached the contract; whether contractor timely performed the contract; whether contractor was properly terminated; and damages." LARKIN's Answer Brief, p.9 (also p.5), filed in the third district court of appeals.

determined all disputes between LARKIN and Contractor, i.e. all disputes arising under the construction contract. R.II-159 ; and see fn. 2, **infra**. The performance bond was not introduced into evidence, and was not an exhibit, in the LARKIN - Contractor arbitration proceedings. R.II-160.

In the arbitration proceeding, LARKIN filed a statement of claim against Contractor for \$201,945.76 in costs of completion over the contract balance and \$5,832,000 in consequential damages for delay to the project.^{3/} R. II-161 ; Tr.Exh.F.

 $\frac{3}{2}$ The consequential damages claimed by LARKIN were as follows:

- a. <u>Surgical Suite</u> lost profits: \$801,000.00. LARKIN claimed a seven month delay in the opening of the hospital's surgical suite. The surgical suite opened in July, 1985, prior to LARKIN's notice of default and termination of Contractor.
- b. <u>Psychiatric Unit</u> lost profits: \$524,000.00. LARKIN claimed a ten month delay in the opening of the hospital's psychiatric unit. The psychiatric unit opened in March, 1985, prior to LARKIN's notice of default and termination of Contractor.
- c. <u>Project in its Entirety</u>, lost profits: \$4,348,000.00. The project was completed in June of 1986, a period of twenty- five (25) months after the original completion date, and seven (7) months after LARKIN's notice of default and termination of Contractor.
- d. Lost interest on note for hospital's sale: \$159,000.00. LARKIN incurred a three month delay between the date of the sale of the hospital and the date that a Certificate of Occupancy for the hospital was obtained. The purchaser refused to pay the interest on the note covering the hospital's purchase for the time that there was no Certificate of Occupancy.

R.II-161 & 162; Tr.Exh. F.

In March of 1988, the arbitration panel entered an arbitration award of \$194,000 to Contractor and \$2,054,545 to LARKIN, resulting in a net award to LARKIN of \$1,860,545. Tr.Exh.6.

2. LARKIN'S Proceedings with AMERICAN.

A. In the trial court.

In February 1986, LARKIN instituted this action against AMERICAN for breach of the performance bond.

A default was sought by LARKIN, and on June 16, 1986 a default was entered. R.I-9. AMERICAN subsequently filed a verified motion to vacate the default (R.I-10) and later filed an amendment thereto that included a proposed Answer, Affirmative Defenses, and Counterclaim. R.I-33. On August 10, 1988 an order was entered granting the motion to vacate default. R.I-48.

In its affirmative defenses and counterclaim, AMERICAN opposed LARKIN's action with various personal defenses; these defenses were not within the scope of the LARKIN - Contractor construction contract issues determined in their arbitration proceeding. R.I-36. One of AMERICAN's personal defenses was a limitation of liability to the costs of completion under the terms of the performance bond. R.I-37; R.II-164. $\frac{4}{}$ Moreover, AMERICAN by its

^{4/} AMERICAN also raised as a personal defense the prejudice it suffered due to the eighteen-month delay (between the May 31, 1984 scheduled completion date and the November 1985 notice of default and termination from LARKIN) in LARKIN's furnishing of a notice of default to AMERICAN. R.II-149 & 153 ; R.II-163. Despite a trial on this issue, the trial court failed to reach the merits of the defense since it concluded that AMERICAN was bound by the arbitration award obtained against Contractor in its entirety.

counterclaim sought a declaratory decree that the performance bond does not provide coverage for consequential delay damages. R.I-37. On January 2, 1987, having already filed the verified motion to vacate the default one month earlier, AMERICAN filed a motion to dismiss or abate the action pending the resolution of the LARKIN - Contractor arbitration proceedings. R.I-29. No order was ever entered on the motion to dismiss or abate. Nevertheless, the case was inactive for more than one year.

After obtaining the favorable (net) arbitration award against Contractor, LARKIN moved for consolidation of the two circuit court actions, Contractor v. LARKIN and LARKIN v. AMERICAN. On April 19, 1988 the trial court consolidated the two cases. R.I-32.

Following consolidation, LARKIN filed an application to confirm the award against both Contractor and AMERICAN, even though AMERICAN was not named in the award. R.I-44. On March 6, 1990, a hearing and trial were conducted, whereupon the trial court granted LARKIN's application to confirm the arbitration award against AMERICAN. R.II-250. The trial court held that AMERICAN was bound by the arbitration award on all issues.^{5/} R.II-237; R.II-249.

^{5/} Earlier, by order filed February 1, 1990, the trial court had denied AMERICAN's motion for partial summary judgment on the issue of coverage for consequential damages raised by AMERICAN's counterclaim for declaratory relief. R.II-136. After the March 6, 1990 hearing, the trial court made the following conclusions of law:

^{1.} AMERICAN HOME'S liability to LARKIN on the Bond is not limited to cost of completion; AMERICAN HOME'S liability includes consequential (i.e., delay) damages that are due LARKIN for breach of the construction contract.

A Final Judgment was entered, dated March 22, 1990 and filed March 24, 1990 (R.II-210), as revised by the Corrected Final Judgment dated April 17, 1990. R.II-245. The amount of the Corrected Final Judgment was \$2,314,579.58.

B. On appeal.

On April 23, 1990, AMERICAN filed its Notice of Appeal of the adverse final judgment. R.II-240. AMERICAN also filed a notice of appeal on an order assessing attorney's fees (R.II-244), and the two appeals were consolidated by the district court.

The district court affirmed, per curiam, the trial court's final judgment in an opinion filed October 23, 1990. On November 5, 1990, AMERICAN filed a motion for certification of conflict with the decision of the First District Court of Appeal in United States Fidelity and Guaranty Company v. Gulf Florida Development Corporation, 365 So.2d 748 (Fla. 1st DCA 1978). On December 26, 1990, the district court filed its (revised) opinion, on the motion for certification of conflict. In that opinion, the district court certified conflict with the First District Court of Appeal:

-7-

^{2.} The Arbitration Panel determined the amount of damages due LARKIN under the construction contract, and AMERICAN HOME is bound by that determination having had notice of the proceeding and having had the opportunity to participate.
R.II-249.

While our decision herein is in accordance with the Fourth District Court of Appeal's decisions in <u>Arbor Club</u> [of Boca Raton, Inc. v. Omega Construction Co.], 565 So.2d at 357 [Fla. 4th DCA 1990], and [St. Paul Fire & <u>Marine Ins. Co. v.] Wooley/Sweeney [Hotel No. 5]</u>, 545 So.2d at 958 [Fla. 4th DCA 1989], inasmuch as both cases held, as we do, that a surety on a performance bond can be held liable for delay damages due the property owner under a construction contract, we certify conflict with the First District Court of Appeal's decision in <u>United</u> <u>States Fidelity & Guar. Co. v. Gulf Florida Dev. Corp.</u>, 365 So.2d 748 (Fla. 1st DCA 1978), which held to the contrary.

On January 16, 1991, AMERICAN filed its Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction for review of the certified conflict between the district courts of appeal.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The First District Court of Appeal in United States Fidelity and Guaranty Company v. Gulf Florida Development Corporation, 365 So.2d 748 (Fla. 1st DCA 1978) recognized that a surety on a performance bond is not liable for more than the reasonable cost of completion in the event of the contractor's default. As a matter of law, a performance bond surety is not liable to an owner for consequential delay damages incurred by the owner due to the bonded contractor's default.

The above-stated rule of law, recognized by the First District Court of Appeal, properly limits the coverage of the surety to its contractual undertaking. For over a decade, the rule enunciated in **Gulf Florida**, recognizing that delay damages are not recoverable against a performance bond surety, was the law of the land in Florida. The First District in **Gulf Florida** enunciated the appropriate rule of law, consistent with the surety's contractual undertaking, unlike recent district court decisions in conflict.

AMERICAN is not liable under its bond for consequential delay damages. The coverage issue of whether the performance bond provides coverage for such consequential damages was not determined by the arbitrators. However, the arbitration award that LARKIN obtained against Contractor included consequential delay damages. Accordingly, the district court erred in affirming the trial court's confirmation of the arbitration award in its entirety, inclusive of consequential delay damages, and entering judgment thereon against AMERICAN.

-9-

KIMBRELL & HAMANN, P.A.

ARGUMENT

I.

THE PERFORMANCE BOND DOES NOT PROVIDE COVERAGE TO THE OWNER FOR DELAY DAMAGES INCURRED DUE TO THE CONTRACTOR'S DEFAULT.

1. Performance Bond Coverage Is Limited To The Costs Of Completion. <u>United States Fidelity And Guaranty</u> <u>Company v. Gulf Florida Development Corporation</u>, 365 So.2d 748 (Fla. 1st DCA 1978).

AMERICAN's performance bond, pursuant to its terms, provides coverage to the owner (the bond obligee, in this case LARKIN) limited to the direct costs of completion or remedial work in excess of the contract price. United States Fidelity And Guaranty Company v. Gulf Florida Development Corporation, 365 So.2d 748 (Fla. 1st DCA 1978). The district court erroneously concluded that the coverage provided by AMERICAN's performance bond included consequential damages for delay.

A bond is a contract subject to the general law of contracts. United States v. James A. Mack, 295 U.S. 480 (1935); Crabtree v. Aetna Casualty and Surety Co., 438 So.2d 102 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983). Contract law recognizes that the intention of the parties governs, as determined by the language used and the object to be accomplished. Bal Harbour Shops, Inc. v. Greenleaf & Crosby Co., 274 So.2d 13 (Fla. 3d DCA 1973).

A hundred years ago, the Florida Supreme Court in **Robinson v. Epping**, 24 Fla. 237, 4 So. 812, 822 (1888), stated a corollary principle applicable to suretyship:

-10-

KIMBRELL & HAMANN, P.A.

A surety does not undertake to do more than is expressed in his obligation and [the surety] has the right to stand upon the strict terms of the same as to his liability thereon. It is not to be implied that [the surety] has undertaken more than is within the precise terms of his undertaking.

(citations omitted). In **Gato v. Warrington**, 37 Fla. 542, 19 So. 883, 884 (1896), the Florida Supreme Court again recognized that coverage provided by a surety is determined by the terms of its bond:

> The rule is well settled that the liability of a surety is not to be extended by implication, beyond the terms of his contract; and to the extent, in the manner, and under the circumstances pointed out in his undertaking that he is bound no further.... The sureties have a right to stand upon the strict terms of their engagement

Accord, Parrish v. Board of Public Instruction, 82 Fla. 11, 89 So. 317 (1921); J.B. McCary Co. v. Dade County, 80 Fla. 652, 86 So. 612, 617 (1920); Crabtree v. Aetna Casualty and Surety Company, 438 So.2d 102 (Fla 1st DCA 1983); State of Florida v. Wesley Construction Co., 316 F. Supp. 490, 497 (S.D. Fla. 1970).

In United States Fidelity & Guarantee Co. v. Gulf Florida Development Corp., 365 So.2d 478 (Fla. 1st DCA 1978), the First District Court of Appeal followed these rules of law to determine the scope of coverage provided by a bond identical to the one issued by AMERICAN. The First District Court of Appeal in Gulf Florida held that under the provisions and terms of the bond the owner's damages were limited to the costs of completion in excess

-11-

KIMBRELL & HAMANN, P.A.

of the contract price. After quoting the bond's language, the First District in Gulf Florida acknowledged:

The terms of the bond control the liability of [the surety] [U]nder the above-stated provisions of the bond, the damages recoverable from [the surety] are limited to the cost of completion and the cost of curing any defective work performed by [the contractor].

365 So.2d. at 751. The First District held that it was error to award damages against the surety for costs caused by delay in completion of the contract. Id.

The First District Court of Appeal in Gulf Florida, follows the traditional rule of law regarding the surety's performance bond obligations. "[H]istorically, performance bonds guarantee the completion of the bonded contract, and a surety thereon will generally pay no more than the reasonable cost of completion in the event of the contractor's default." Arbor Club of Boca Raton Inc., Ltd. v. Omega Construction Company, Inc., 565 So.2d 357, 360 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990) (citing Sobel, Owner Delay Damages Chargeable to Performance Bond Surety, 21 Cal. W.L. Rev. 128 (1984)).

The law followed by the First District Court of Appeal in Gulf Florida, recognizes that the intent of the parties as expressed in the performance bond will govern the surety's obligations on its bond. The performance bond is solely intended to assure that the owner will not have to pay to complete the construction project in the event the contractor defaults. And that is all that the bond covers. Period. The surety's performance bond is not underwritten

-12-

to provide protection to the owner from any and all losses sustained due to a contractor's default.

The applicable language in the bond states as follows:

NOW, THEREFORE, THE CONDITION OF THIS OBLIGATION is such that, if Contractor shall promptly and faithfully perform said Contract, then this obligation shall be null and void; otherwise it shall remain in full force and effect.

Whenever Contractor shall be, and declared by Owner to be in default under the Contract, the Owner having performed Owner's obligations thereunder, the Surety may promptly remedy the default, or shall promptly -

1. Complete the Contract in accordance with its terms and conditions, or

Obtain a bid or bids for completing the Contract in 2. accordance with its terms and conditions, and upon determination by surety of the lowest responsible bidder, or, if the Owner elects, upon determination by the Owner and the Surety jointly of the lowest responsible bidder, arrange for a contract between such bidder and Owner, and make available as Work progresses (even though there should be a default or a succession of defaults under the contract or contracts of completion arranged under this paragraph) sufficient funds to pay the cost of completion the balance of the contract price; but not less exceeding, including other costs and damages for which the Surety may be liable hereunder, the amount set forth in the first paragraph hereof. The term "balance of the contract price," as used in this paragraph, shall mean the total amount payable by Owner to Contractor under the Contract and any amendments thereto, less the amount properly paid by Owner to Contractor.

Tr.Exh. 2. The surety's obligations are specifically stated in the bond: Upon receipt of notice of default by the bond obligee and upon the principal's default, the surety is to complete the project or pay the costs of the completion in excess of the contract price. This is the sum and substance of the coverage provided by the performance bond triggered by the contractor's default, pursuant to the express obligations set forth in the bond.

-13-

If the surety completes the project or pays the owner its completion costs that exceed the contract price, then the surety is not in breach of its bond obligation (even though the contractor is clearly in breach of the construction contract). Instead, the surety's bond obligation upon contractor's default is satisfied by the surety's act of either completing the project or paying completion costs. In such circumstances, since the surety is not in breach of the performance bond it is not liable to the owner for damages. No damages because no breach (of the performance bond), though the owner may be entitled to consequential delay damages against the contractor for the contractor's breach of the construction contract.

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