# SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

Case No. 77,286

AMERICAN HOME ASSURANCE COMPANY, ]

Petitioner, ]

V. ]

LARKIN GENERAL HOSPITAL, LTD., ]

ETC., ]

Respondent. ]

On Discretionary Review Upon Certified Conflict From the District Court of Appeal, Third District

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

JAMES E. GLASS ASSOCIATES 6161 Blue Lagoon Drive Suite 350 Miami, Florida 33126 Attorneys for Larkin

# **

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

## **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

- I. A surety is liable for all damages awarded against its principal in an arbitration proceeding, including delay damages, where the performance bond incorporates the construction contract by reference, and the construction contract contains an arbitration provision. Where a surety has notice of the arbitration instituted against its principal, the surety is bound by the award, regardless of whether surety was a party to the arbitration, and the prevailing party is entitled to an order confirming the award in its favor and against the surety.
- II. AMERICAN's "personal" defenses concerning whether CONTRACTOR timely performed the Construction Contract, and whether LARKIN timely terminated CONTRACTOR and timely notified SURETY of the default were resolved in the arbitration and cannot be re-litigated. The pleadings filed in the arbitration proceeding clearly and unambiguously set forth the issues which were the subject of the arbitration proceeding: whether CONTRACTOR breached the Construction Contract; whether CONTRACTOR timely performed the Construction Contract; whether CONTRACTOR was properly terminated; and damages. The principle of collateral estoppel prohibits the re-litigation of facts or issues which were fully litigated and determined in a prior proceeding. A surety is bound by issues resolved in an arbitration involving its principal, where the surety has notice of the arbitration and an opportunity to participate.

## **ARGUMENT**

#### <u>ISSUE I</u>

AN OWNER IS ENTITLED TO CONFIRMATION OF AN ARBITRATION AWARD AGAINST A SURETY FOR ALL DAMAGES AWARDED OWNER (INCLUDING DELAY DAMAGES) WHERE SURETY HAS NOTICE OF ARBITRATION PROCEEDING BETWEEN ITS PRINCIPAL (CONTRACTOR) AND OBLIGEE (OWNER) AND SURETY IS AFFORDED AN OPPORTUNITY TO PARTICIPATE, BUT DOES NOT PARTICIPATE

The purpose of a performance bond is to insure completion of the work upon default and to insure against any loss the owner suffers as a result of the default. *Florida Board of Regents* v. Fidelity & Deposit Company of Maryland, 416 So.2d 30 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982).

The liability of the surety is measured by the liability of the principal, the surety's liability being co-extensive with that of its principal. <u>Aetna Casualty & Surety Company v.</u>

<u>Warren Brothers Company, Division of Ashland Oil, Inc.</u>, 355 So.2d 785 (Fla. 1978); <u>Crabtree v. Aetna Casualty & Surety Co.</u>, 438 So.2d 102 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983). <u>Henderson Investment Corp. v. International Fidelity Insurance Co.</u>, 16 FLW 640 (Fla. 5th DCA, Mar. 7, 1991) ("if the contractor owes the debt, so does the surety").

A judgment against a principal is conclusive against a surety even though the surety did not participate in the earlier proceeding. This common law principle applies to an arbitration award obtained against a general contractor where a surety has actual knowledge of the arbitration proceeding, is afforded an opportunity to defend, but chooses not to. <u>St. Paul Fire and Marine v. Woolley/Sweeney Hotel #5</u>, 545 So.2d 958 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989), <u>rev.den</u>. 553 So.2d 1166 (Fla. 1989).

<u>Woolley/Sweeney</u> involved an action by an owner against a surety on a performance bond. The Fourth District Court of Appeal held the surety liable for all damages awarded against its principal in an arbitration proceeding, including delay damages, where the performance bond incorporated the construction contract by reference, and the construction contract contained an arbitration provision:

"We approve the trial court's holding that the appellant, [SURETY] was contractually bound to participate in arbitration with the owner and contractor in a dispute over a hotel construction contract for which the appellant provided a performance bond. The construction contract contained an arbitration provision, and the performance bond incorporated the construction contract by reference. In so doing the appellant bound itself to participate and be bound by the arbitration of any disputes under the construction contract." 545 So.2d at 958-959

See also Kidder Electrical of Florida, Inc. v. United States Fidelity & Guaranty Company, 530 So. 2d 475 (Fla. 5th DCA 1988) (surety bound by arbitration determination although not a party to arbitration proceeding); Fewox v. McMerit Construction Co., 556 So. 2d 419 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989) (where surety has actual notice of arbitration proceedings instituted against its principal, surety is bound by arbitration determination against its principal and recipient of award is entitled to order confirming arbitration award in its favor against principal and also against surety).

The Fourth District Court of Appeal recently re-visited its <u>Woolley/Sweeny</u> decision in *The Arbor Club of Boca Raton, Inc., Ltd. v. Omega Construction Co., Inc., 565 So. 2d 357 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990) petition for review dismissed per stipulation*, No. 76, 644 (Fla. Dec. 20, 1990) which also involved an action by an owner against a surety on a performance bond. In <u>Arbor Club</u>, the contractor defaulted and surety elected to furnish a contractor to complete the project.

Surety refused to accept responsibility for delay to the project caused before and after contractor's default, i.e. delay caused by contractor and delay caused by surety after contractor's default.

At the conclusion of the trial, the trial judge instructed the jury that the surety was not obligated under its bond to pay any delay damages caused by contractor, and the jury found in favor of the surety on this issue.

The Fourth District Court of Appeal reversed, citing <u>Woolley/Sweeney</u> and again holding that delay damages are recoverable against the surety. The <u>Arbor Club</u> court also relied on <u>Amerson v. Christman</u>, 261 Cal. App. 2d 811, 68 Cal. Rptr. 378 (1968), which also interpreted an identical bond as covering delay damages:

"To decide whether the surety should also be liable for delay damages, the [Amerson] court made the following observations: First, it noted the old rule that the surety's liability is co-extensive with its principal's. Next, it found that the bond incorporated the construction contract by reference, and that the contract provided for timely performance. The court bolstered its conclusion by pointing to the following language in the bond: 'Hartford is obligated to make available sufficient funds to pay the cost of completion less the balance of the contract price; but not exceeding, including other costs and damages for which the surety may be liable hereunder, the amount set forth above' "[Emphasis in original]

The Arbor Club of Boca Raton, Inc., Ltd. v. Omega Construction Company, 565 So.2d at 360 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990) citing Sobel, Owner Delay Damages Chargeable to Performance Bond Surety, 21 Cal.W.L.Rev.128, 137 (1984).

The bonds in <u>Arbor Club</u>, <u>Woolley/Sweeney</u> and <u>Amerson</u> are identical to the bond furnished by AMERICAN in the present suit. (R.131); 565 So.2d at 359.

The <u>Woolley/Sweeney</u> and the <u>Arbor Club</u> courts both noted conflict with <u>Gulf Florida</u>, but both courts determined that the surety's obligation on the performance bond included delay damages. The <u>Arbor Club</u> court noted two particularly compelling reasons. First, the bond specifically obligates the contractor to "<u>promptly</u> and faithfully perform" the construction contract, and the surety is liable for the contractor's breach of contractual provisions. <u>Arbor Club</u>, 565 So.2d at 360. Second, the <u>Arbor Club</u> court noted that the bond obligates the surety, in the event of breach by contractor, to:

"Make available sufficient funds to pay the cost of completion less the balance of the contract price; but not exceeding, including other costs and damages for which surety may be liable hereunder the amount set forth above." Arbor Club, 565 So.2d at 360 (Emphasis in original)

AMERICAN had the opportunity to participate in the arbitration and defend against LARKIN's claim. For reasons best known to AMERICAN, it did not do so. CONTRACTOR (AMERICAN's principal) suffered an adverse award in the arbitration proceeding, and now AMERICAN simply does not want to be bound by the result. The trial court correctly concluded that AMERICAN was liable for all damages assessed against CONTRACTOR in the arbitration proceeding.

#### **ISSUE II**

A SURETY CANNOT RE-LITIGATE ISSUES OF PERFORMANCE, DEFAULT, AND NOTICE AS "PERSONAL DEFENSES" WHERE THESE ISSUES WERE PREVIOUSLY DETERMINED IN AN ARBITRATION PROCEEDING BETWEEN OWNER AND CONTRACTOR

After suffering an adverse Arbitration Award, and an adverse decision on its Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, AMERICAN sought leave of court to raise as "personal" defenses factual issues concerning CONTRACTOR's timely performance and/or LARKIN's timely termination of CONTRACTOR. In effect, AMERICAN for the first time, took the position that because CONTRACTOR was not defaulted for some eighteen (18) months after the original Construction Contract completion date, LARKIN was untimely in its notice of default to AMERICAN, and AMERICAN was thus relieved from any further liability, or a portion of its liability, under the Bond.

The trial court permitted AMERICAN to offer proof of this alleged prejudice through the testimony of an "expert" witness, who proceeded to dissect and pro rate the Arbitration Award to try to carve out the "delay" portion. For example, the expert compared the contract completion date of May 31, 1984 with the date of default and termination in November 1985, and thereby determined that the CONTRACTOR must have actually defaulted on May 31, 1984, and that LARKIN "waited" 18 months to notify AMERICAN of the default. This simply is not the evidence in either the arbitration or the trial. The CONTRACTOR was declared in default and terminated immediately thereafter. (R.III-76) LARKIN gave notice of the default and termination simultaneously to CONTRACTOR and AMERICAN. (R.158) CONTRACTOR's claim that it was wrongfully terminated was an issue in arbitration as were all of LARKIN's and

CONTRACTOR'S disputes with respect to termination, default, performance, etc. AMERICAN sought to establish this fact at trial in support of its "personal" affirmative defenses simply by comparing two dates "in the dark" without reference to any of the real issues and facts surrounding that time period. AMERICAN's assumption is not supported by any evidence in any proceeding.

In a further attempt to whittle down the <u>Arbitration Award</u>, AMERICAN's expert witness dissected the damages awarded by the Arbitration Panel. The expert considered the <u>lump sum award</u> to LARKIN (which was not "itemized" by the Arbitration Panel) and compared the lump sum to the total of the eight elements of damage LARKIN sought to recover in arbitration. The expert declared that the Arbitrators must have given equal weight to each of the eight items, and <u>pro rated</u> the award accordingly. After making these assumptions, the expert proceeded to extrapolate what AMERICAN should and should not be responsible for based, of course, on the assumption that LARKIN delayed giving notice to AMERICAN by 18 months.

The principle of collateral estoppel prohibits the re-litigation of facts or issues which were fully litigated and determined in a prior litigation. Collateral estoppel applies where the issues are identical, and where the same parties are involved. *Mobile Oil Corp. v. Shevin, 354 So.2d 372 (Fla. 1977); Nationwide Mutual Fire Insurance Company v. Race, 508 So.2d 1276 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987).* The "prior" litigation includes arbitration proceedings. *Mendelsund v. Southern-Aire Coats of Florida, Inc., 210 So.2d 229 (Fla. 3d DCA 1968) cert.den. 225 So.2d 524 (Fla. 1968).* A surety is bound by an action involving its principal, where the surety has notice of the action and an opportunity to participate. *St. Paul Fire & Marine v. Woolley/Sweeney Hotel #5, 545 So.2d 958 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989), rev. den. 553 So.2d 1166 (Fla. Woolley/Sweeney Hotel #5, 545 So.2d 958 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989), rev. den. 553 So.2d 1166 (Fla.* 

1989); Fewox v. McMerit Construction Co., 556 So.2d 419 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989); Kidder Electrical of Florida, Inc. v. United States Fidelity & Guaranty Company, 530 So.2d 475 (Fla. 5th DCA 1988).

AMERICAN never contested the arbitration proceeding. AMERICAN was fully aware of the arbitration proceeding and, in fact, used the arbitration proceeding as a means for staying the Bond action in the lower court on the basis that the arbitration proceeding would resolve all issues. All issues concerning CONTRACTOR's performance, or lack thereof, were resolved in arbitration, including the determination of whether CONTRACTOR was properly and timely defaulted. AMERICAN is collaterally estopped from asserting these claims as "new issues" in this action. See, City of Gainesville, Florida v. Island Creek Coal Sales Company, 618 F.Supp. 513, aff. 771 F.2d 1495 (11th Cir. 1985) (City was collaterally estopped from bringing RICO and fraud action in connection with a contract to supply coal, since the issue of allegedly deceptive coal sales necessarily included issue of whether the contract had been breached, which issue was decided against the City in prior arbitration proceeding).

The Fifth District recently considered the practical concerns of allowing parties to relitigate issues which were, or should have been, resolved in arbitration in <u>PRG, Inc. v. Oviedo</u>

<u>Material, Inc.</u>, 15 FLW 2796 (Fla. 5th DCA Nov. 15, 1990).

<u>Oviedo</u> involved a claim by a sub-subcontractor against a subcontractor for monies due under its subcontract. The subcontractor brought a third-party action against the contractor and the owner, and on the owner/contractor's motion, the third-party action was stayed and the parties were compelled to arbitrate. The only issue presented for resolution at the arbitration was a determination of the balance due subcontractor under its subcontract with the owner and

contractor. The Arbitration Panel found in favor of the owner and contractor. The contractor then proceeded to request an award of attorneys fees in the circuit court, pursuant to a clause in the subcontract which allowed recovery of attorneys fees in the event the subcontractor "defaults".

The Fifth District affirmed the trial court's determination that the contractor waived its claim for attorneys fees by not raising it prior to the arbitration. The court noted that while the amount of the attorneys fees can only be set by a court (and not by an arbitration panel), the issue of "default" should have been determined in arbitration, and the contractor was precluded from raising and re-litigating that issue in the circuit court action:

"Here the contractor was only entitled to recover attorneys fees if the subcontractor defaulted in performance of any of the terms of the subcontract. 'Default' lies peculiarly within the expertise of the arbitrator and its precisely the issue usually arbitrated in a It would be illogical, as in this case, to construction case. arbitrate the subcontractor's claim for monies claimed due under the contract and then go to the circuit court to obtain an adjudication whether the reason no monies were due the subcontractor was that the subcontractor was in default. To make the determination whether [subcontractor] was in default of its duties under the subcontract, or whether there was some other reason why it was not entitled to be paid, the circuit court would either have to review the transcript of the arbitration proceedings (if there were one) or conduct another evidentiary hearing. To resort to such a procedure to determine attorney's fees would be absurd." 15 FLW at 2798 (Emphasis in original)

The attorneys fees issue, like the "coverage" issue in the case sub judice, was a legal issue for the court and was not tried in the arbitration. However, the <u>factual</u> issues (i.e. default) as they relate to the legal ones are deemed conclusively determined by the arbitration.

In the instant litigation, the coverage issue was raised in the lower court via AMERICAN'S Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, and was properly disposed as a legal

issue: the motion was denied. However, the facts on which the court below was obligated to apply the law were conclusively decided in the arbitration. AMERICAN is not free to re-litigate these facts or to dissect the <u>Arbitration Award</u>. AMERICAN is, in effect, requesting this Court to give AMERICAN a clean slate and allow AMERICAN to start litigation anew. Alternately, AMERICAN would request this Court to allow it to carve out of the <u>Arbitration Award</u> (which was a lump sum award!) those portions of the award which AMERICAN feels are likely to be attributable to delay, and for which AMERICAN believes it is not liable. In the words of Judge Griffin in *Oviedo*: "To resort to such a procedure ... would be absurd". 15 FLW at 2798.

## **CONCLUSION**

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